SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

SCA EFiled: Nov 07 2023 02:25PM EST

Transaction ID 71348398

Respondent,

Supreme Court No.: 23-421

Case No.: 22-F-271

Wood County Circuit Court

MICHAEL KEITH ALLMAN,

Petitioner.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Matthew Brummond Appellate Counsel W.Va. Bar No. 10878 **Public Defender Services** Appellate Advocacy Division One Players Club Drive, Suite 301 Charleston, WV 25311 (304) 558-3905 Matt.D.Brummond@wv.gov

Counsel for the Petitioner

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

A police officer seized Petitioner's backpack incident to arrest, handcuffed him, and awaited backup. After the arresting officer secured Petitioner away from the bag and a backup officer secured the scene, the police searched the bag and discovered drugs.

Under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article three, section six of the West Virginia Constitution, could officers search the backpack's contents when Petitioner could no longer access it, or did they require a warrant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Wood County jury convicted Petitioner of possessing drugs with intent to distribute and being a prohibited person in possession of a concealed firearm. However, it heard evidence that police discovered through a warrantless search of Petitioner's backpack.² Petitioner appeals because the intrusion was not a valid search incident to arrest, and the circuit court ought to have suppressed the bag's contents.³

1. A Parkersburg police officer arrested Petitioner on an active warrant.

On the evening of June 4, 2022, a Parkersburg police officer was patrolling an alleyway near Pro-Line Collision, a local mechanic garage. 4 He knew the location to be a high drug traffic area. ⁵ He saw the garage door open despite the late hour, so he stopped his car to investigate.6

The officer could peer into the open door from his patrol car, and inside recognized Petitioner amongst six to eight other individuals. The officer knew Petitioner had an active warrant and called out to him by name.8

A.R. 545-48.
 A.R. 335-38; A.R. 343-46; A.R. 350-51; see also A.R. 42.
 Counsel would like to thank 2023 WVU College of Law graduate Olivia Lee for her contributions to this brief.

A.R. 32-34.

⁵ A.R. 34.

A.R. 34-35.

⁷ *Id.*; A.R. 38.

⁸ A.Ŕ. 35.

Petitioner turned, and the officer noted that he had a bookbag slung over his shoulder. The officer exited his car to approach Petitioner, and as he did, Petitioner walked between two cars. 10 The officer saw Petitioner remove and discard an item from his waistband. 11 The officer called out again, and Petitioner approached. 12 As he did so, Petitioner also hid the backpack behind another vehicle. 13

The officer ordered Petitioner to turn around and put his hands behind his back.¹⁴ Petitioner did not comply and continued facing forward. ¹⁵ The officer pushed Petitioner up against a car body and secured him with handcuffs. 16

2. The officer seized and secured Petitioner's bag, then backup arrived to assist the officer in securing the scene.

As the officer, who at that time was alone, handcuffed Petitioner, another individual stepped forward.¹⁷ This unknown person claimed that the backpack the officer saw on Petitioner's shoulder belonged to him.¹⁸

The officer ordered everyone out of the garage.¹⁹ They complied and departed.²⁰ After the garage cleared and the officer secured Petitioner, he "took the backpack under control"²¹ from where Petitioner had hid it.²² No one made any further claim on the bag or approached the officer after they left the garage.²³

⁹ A.R. 35–36. ¹⁰ A.R. 36.

¹¹ *Id*.

¹² A.R. 38.

 $^{^{13}}$ *Id*.

 $^{^{14}}$ *Id*.

¹⁵ A.R. 39.

 $^{^{16}}$ *Id*.

¹⁷ *Id*.

 $^{^{18}}$ *Id*.

 $^{^{19}\}overline{Id}$.

²² A.R. 39-40.

²³ A.R. 41.

The officer placed the backpack on the hood of the police car and backup arrived.²⁴ While the arresting officer held Petitioner, the backup officer frisked him and discovered an empty holster.²⁵ The arresting officer remained outside to guard Petitioner and backup retrieved the discarded firearm from inside the now-empty garage. 26

3. Police searched the backpack after they secured it, Petitioner, and the scene.

The officers then turned their attention to the backpack.²⁷ Up until this point, the officer's concern had been securing the scene: arresting Petitioner, seizing the bag, awaiting backup, and securing the gun.²⁸

But now they had accomplished this. Police had recovered the gun.²⁹ They had secured the backpack.³⁰ No one remained in the garage.³¹ The officers had handcuffed Petitioner behind his back and frisked him.³² Between the arresting and backup officer, they had two vehicles in which to place Petitioner or the backpack.³³ And more officers were arriving.34

The officers then searched Petitioner's bag and found ammunition, drugs, and paraphernalia.³⁵ They placed Petitioner inside one vehicle, and the arresting officer placed the backpack and its contents in the front seat of his vehicle.³⁶

The State charged Petitioner with being a felon in possession of a firearm and concealing it, and various counts of possession with intent based upon the backpack's contents.37

²⁴ A.R. 41. ²⁵ A.R. 41–42.

²⁶ A.R. 42.

²⁸ A.R. 56-57.

²⁹ A.R. 42.

³⁰ A.R. 51; see also A.R. 541.

³¹ A.R. 41; A.R. 57.

³² A.R. 39; A.R. 42; A.R. 45.

³³ A.R. 43.

³⁴ A.R. 50.

³⁵ A.R. 42.

³⁶ A.R. 43-45.

³⁷ A.R. 533–36.

4. The circuit court denied Petitioner's motion to suppress and the jury convicted Petitioner.

Based upon this record, Petitioner moved to suppress the backpack's contents.³⁸ This was not a consent search—the police did not ask anyone whether they would voluntarily submit to any intrusion.³⁹

Nor was it a legitimate search incident to arrest. 40 The officers waited until the scene was secure and Petitioner could no longer access the bag or its contents before opening it. 41 Per U.S. v. Davis 42 and its application of Arizona v. Gant, 43 once the danger to evidence and officer safety passed, the police had to obtain a warrant.⁴⁴

The State responded that officers did not require consent because a warrant exception applied to each intrusion. 45 To whatever extent the third party's claim muddied ownership, it would only detract from Petitioner's standing. 46 But the State took the position that Petitioner "clearly was in possession of the bag[.]" 47

As to the merits, the State conceded that *Gant* limits the warrant exception to its purpose of protecting evidence and officer safety. 48 But focusing on the situation when the first officer seized the bag, the State believed the later search was reasonable.⁴⁹

The circuit court noted that *if* it were Petitioner's position that the bag was someone else's, then he would not have standing. 50 But rather than rule upon this, the court agreed with the State that the search was reasonable under the circumstances.⁵¹ The jury then convicted him on all counts.52

³⁸ A.R. 537–38.

³⁹ A.R. 59.

⁴⁰ A.R. 58.

⁴² U.S. v. Davis, 997 F.3d 191 (4th Cir. 2021). ⁴³ Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332 (2009).

⁴⁴ A.R. 58–59; A.R. 537–38.

⁴⁵ A.R. 59-60.

⁴⁶ A.R. 60.

⁴⁸ A.R. 62.

⁴⁹ A.R. 64–66.

⁵⁰ A.R. 542.

⁵¹ A.R. 540-44.

⁵² A.R. 492-93.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There's a reason that below, the State and court focused on the facts prior to the arresting officer and backup securing Petitioner, the scene, and the evidence. This is the period during which the officer could permissibly have searched the bag. But he didn't.

Under the circumstances, waiting made sense. He was on his own, with an arrestee, in the vicinity of individuals with unknown motivations. On a pro/con analysis, seizing and securing the bag without searching it was safer even if it did contain a weapon. But by waiting until the exigencies associated with the arrest had passed, his ability to search without a warrant passed as well.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner requests a Rule 19 argument and a signed opinion. In 2015, this Court acknowledged and adopted the Supreme Court's rule in Arizona v. Gant, which reined in overly broad searches incident to arrest.⁵³ And the Court has long recognized that while arrest justifies a full search of the person, a search of their surroundings may only extend to those areas "within [their] immediate control" such that they may destroy evidence or harm the officer.54

Furthermore, Petitioner's case is a good vehicle for illustrating when officers may search an arrestee's surroundings. Arrests are fluid and idiosyncratic. But here a relatively bright line separated the arrest, during which the officer could have searched without a warrant, and the post-arrest scene when he could not. Pedagogically speaking, this is an ideal scenario for instructing law enforcement and lower courts that once the dangers associated with an arrest pass, their ability to search without a warrant passes as well.⁵⁵

⁵³ See Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Noel, 236 W. Va. 335, 779 S.E.2d 877 (2015).
⁵⁴ See State v. Julius, 185 W. Va. 422, 426, 408 S.E.2d 1, 5 (1991) (quoting Chimel v. California, 395 U.S. 752, 763 (1969)) (police lawfully seized the clothing defendant wore incident to arrest but required a different rationale to seize a coat outside his reach).
⁵⁵ Compare Davis, 997 F.3d at 198 with U.S. v. Shakir, 616 F.3d 315, 318–20 (3rd Cir. 2010).

ARGUMENT

After lawfully seizing Petitioner's backpack incident to arrest, police could not conduct a warrantless search of its contents after the exigencies of the arrest had ended.

"The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated[.]"⁵⁶ For a search to be reasonable, police must possess a warrant unless a recognized exception applies.⁵⁷ One exception is a search incident to arrest.⁵⁸ It is reasonable for officers to search an arrestee's person and immediate sphere of influence to protect officer safety and prevent the destruction of evidence. ⁵⁹ But only if the search "is substantially contemporaneous with the arrest and is confined to the immediate vicinity of the arrest."60 The test is functionally related to the exception's purpose. 61 "[A] search incident to arrest may only include the arrestee's person and the area within his immediate control—construing that phrase to mean the area from within which he might gain possession of a weapon or destructible evidence." 62 When evidence and officer safety are no longer endangered, police must obtain a warrant.63

When evaluating a suppression ruling, this Court reviews factual determinations under the "clearly erroneous" standard, and the lower court's legal determinations and ultimate conclusion de novo. 64 Here, the lower court erred because the search itself was too attenuated from the arrest. Officers lawfully seized the bag and secured it. 65 But they did not search its contents until after Petitioner lost access to the bag. 66 They therefore needed a warrant before opening it.⁶⁷

⁵⁶ U.S. Const. Amend. IV; accord. W. Va. Const. Art. III, § 6.
57 Missouri v. McNeely, 569 U.S. 141, 148 (2013).
58 U.S. v. Robinson, 414 U.S. 218, 224 (1973).
59 Chimel v. California, 395 U.S. 752, 762–63 (1969).
60 Stoner v. California, 376 U.S. 483, 486 (1964).
61 See, e.g., Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 335 (2009).
62 Gant, 556 U.S. at 339 (cleaned up).
63 See id. at 350–51.
64 See State v. Noel, 236 W. Va. 335, 339, 779 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2015).

⁶⁶ See A.R. 39-43; see also A.R. 48-50; A.R. 51-52. ⁶⁷ See Gant, 556 U.S. at 350; Chimel, 395 U.S. at 762-63.

To lawfully search Petitioner's discarded backpack without a warrant, the State needed to show that it was still within his immediate zone of control such that Petitioner could have accessed a concealed weapon or destroyed evidence contained within.⁶⁸ That may have been true when the arresting officer was alone and in the process of securing Petitioner. But Petitioner does not contest the initial seizure of the backpack. Rather, he challenges the officer's later search of its contents. That occurred after the scene was secure and Petitioner no longer posed a realistic threat.⁶⁹ It may have been proper for the officer to wait for the exigencies of the arrest to abate before conducting the search at his leisure. But at that point, no exception applied, and he first had to get a warrant. 70

The cases cited by the parties below show this. In U.S. v. Davis, the Fourth Circuit considered Gant's reaffirmation of Chimel's requirement that arrest searches serve the purposes for which the warrant exception exists.⁷¹ In doing so, it reversed a conviction on facts materially congruent to those here. 72 There, the defendant fled police, but relented when the chasing officer drew his service weapon. 73 As Davis submitted, he discarded a backpack.⁷⁴ The police handcuffed, frisked, and informed him he was under arrest.⁷⁵ They then retrieved the discarded backpack and discovered drugs.⁷⁶

The Fourth Circuit ruled this search unconstitutional.⁷⁷ The arrestee had discarded the bag, and at the time police seized his person, it was no longer within reach.⁷⁸ Although

⁶⁸ See Gant, 556 U.S. at 350–51. Unique to the automobile context, police may also look for evidence of the crime of arrest. See id. at 335. That does not apply here.
⁶⁹ See A.R. 39–43; see also A.R. 48–50; A.R. 51–52.

See Gant, 556 U.S. at 350-51; see also Davis, 997 F.3d at 198; Julius, 185 W. Va. at 426.
 See Davis, 997 F.3d at 191.

⁷² See id. at 194.

⁷³ See id.

⁷⁴ See id.

⁷⁵ See id.

⁷⁶ See id.

⁷⁷ See id. at 200.

⁷⁸ See id. at 198.

a single officer secured the defendant, backup arrived soon after.⁷⁹ Therefore the exigencies of the arrest did not justify a warrantless search. 80

The similarities to the instant case are undeniable. As in *Davis*, Petitioner had the backpack when police first encountered him. 81 He discarded it in their presence and initially resisted. 82 Both defendants did ultimately submit to the lone officer arresting them. 83 But neither officer searched the backpack immediately. 84 They both waited for backup to arrive and secure the scene. 85 Thus, in both, nothing justified the police in opening the bag without first asking a judge.

There is one other key similarity. The lower court found the officer acted reasonably because handcuffs are not perfect. 86 That may be, but they work more often than not, which is why police trust them over the honor system. "We need not recount the various acrobatic maneuvers [an arrestee] would have needed to perform to place the backpack within his reaching distance at the time of the search." 87 Where multiple officers secure a defendant and take full possession of their container and could easily re-locate it out of danger, they need a warrant to open it.88

The Third Circuit confronted very different facts when it affirmed a duffle bag search in U.S. v. Shakir. There, an officer approached a robbery suspect in a hotel lobby.⁸⁹ The suspect dropped a bag to his feet. 90 The officer did a quick pat down, but could not secure him with a single set of handcuffs. 91 Until backup arrived with more handcuffs, the

⁷⁹ See id.

⁸⁰ See id.; cf. U.S. v. Buster, 26 F.4th 627, 635 (4th Cir. 2022) (Bag search illegal after police assumed full control).

⁸¹ See A.R. 38.

⁸² See A.R. 38-39.

⁸³ See A.R. 39. 84 See A.R. 51-52.

⁸⁵ See id.

⁸⁶ See A.R. 543; Davis, 997 F.3d at 198.

⁸⁸ See Gant, 556 U.S. 350-51; cf. Riley v. California, 573 U.S. 373, 386 (2014) (officers may seize cellphones incident to arrest but must get a warrant to search their digital contents, which cannot harm officers).

⁸⁹ See Shakir, 616 F.3d at 316.

⁹⁰ See id.

⁹¹ See id.

lone officer had to balance his attention between the unsecured defendant and a confederate held by unarmed civilian security guards. 92 Backup arrived and secured the defendant. 93 As they held the defendant's arms, the initial officer seized the bag and searched it. 94 The court ruled that the arrest's exigencies justified the immediate search. 95

This stands in stark contrast to Petitioner's arrest. In Shakir, backup arrived and secured the suspect contemporaneous to the initial officer seizing and searching the bag. There, the fluid scene, recency of the real arrest, and proximity justified the officer in acting fast to ensure the arrestee could not access a weapon or evidence. 96

But here, when the officer handcuffed Petitioner, he judged the situation as too insecure to risk an immediate search and waited to gain complete control.⁹⁷ He did not search until after the other individuals had dispersed from the garage and another officer arrived to frisk Petitioner and secure the discarded weapon.⁹⁸

Importantly, here the officer waited until long after he had seized the bag itself and divested Petitioner of any control over it. 99 He and backup exercised dominion over both Petitioner and the backpack, unlike the situation in Shakir where, until the moment of seizure, the bag sat at the feet of the unsecured suspect. 100 There, the officer had to act fast. But here, police had the leisure to secure the bag and await a warrant. They simply chose not to, contrary to the state and federal constitutions.

The Third Circuit made clear that these distinctions made all the difference. 101 It contrasted Shakir with another case more akin to this case and Davis. 102 Where the defendant submitted to police, threw a bag away from himself, and the arresting officer

⁹² See id.

⁹³ See Shakir, 616 F.3d at 316-17.

⁹⁴ See id. at 317.

⁹⁵ See id. at 321.

⁹⁶ See id.

⁹⁷ See A.R. 56-57.

⁹⁸ A.R. 51–52.

 $^{^{100}}$ See Shakir, 616 F.3d at 316–17; see also U.S. v. Salazar, 69 F.4th 474, 478 (7th Cir. 2023). 101 See Shakir, 616 F.3d. at 318–19. 102 See id.; see also U.S. v. Meyers, 308 F.3d 251 (3rd Cir. 2002).

searched at his leisure after backup secured the suspect, the Third Circuit reversed. 103 Just as in *Davis*, and just as should have happened here.

What these cases show is that arrests unfold differently, but the law officers must obey remains the same. If the exigencies of the situation make it safer and more secure to immediately seize and search property the defendant could reach, then they may do so. 104 And if it is safer to completely secure a scene before searching containers, then absolutely they should do that. 105 But if they opt for the latter, they cannot open the containers until they get a warrant. 106

CONCLUSION

The arresting officer may have found it cumbersome to arrest Petitioner on the warrant and hold, but not open, the backpack pending a magistrate's permission. Unzipping the bag to confirm what he already surmised was much more efficient.

Forgoing the constitution aways is.

"The point of the Fourth Amendment, which often is not grasped by zealous officers, is not that it denies law enforcement the support of the usual inferences which reasonable men draw from evidence. Its protection consists in requiring that those inferences be drawn by a neutral and detached magistrate instead of being judged by the officer engaged in the often competitive enterprise of ferreting out crime." ¹⁰⁷

Petitioner therefore requests that the Court reverse and remand his case for a new trial in which the bag and its contents are suppressed.