IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA SCA EFiled: Dec 22 2023

09:23AM EST

Transaction ID 71680883

Docket No. 23-421

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL KEITH ALLMAN,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the June 2, 2023, Order Circuit Court of Wood County Case No. 22-F-271

> **PATRICK MORRISEY** ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANDREA NEASE PROPER SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 1900 Kanawha Blvd., E. State Capitol, Bldg. 6, Ste. 406 Charleston, WV 25305 Telephone: (304) 558-5830 Facsimile: (304) 558-5833

State Bar No. 9354

Email: Andrea.R.Nease-Proper@wvago.gov

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

Even if Petitioner maintained a privacy right in the bag, the search here meets at least two of the exceptions for a warrantless search. The search was incident to a lawful arrest, as Petitioner was being lawfully arrested based on an outstanding warrant. While the arrest was ongoing, Petitioner had access to the bag and the circumstances of the other individuals milling around, combined with Petitioner's proximity to the bag, allowed for the search to occur. Additionally, the search meets the exigent circumstances exception to a warrantless search because officer safety remained in question up until the search occurred.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure 18(a)(3) and (4), oral argument is unnecessary because the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and the record. Accordingly, this case is appropriate for resolution by memorandum decision.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The sole issue on appeal is the denial of Petitioner's motion to suppress the search of his bookbag. The following standard of review applies: "[o]n appeal, legal conclusions made with regard to suppression determinations are reviewed *de novo*. Factual determinations upon which these legal conclusions are based are reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. In addition, factual findings based, at least in part, on determinations of witness credibility are accorded great deference." *State v. Farley*, 238 W. Va. 596, 606, 797 S.E.2d 573, 583 (2017) (citation omitted).

B. Petitioner had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the bookbag because he disclaimed ownership, and he abandoned the bag.

Petitioner's claim fails at the outset because he lacks Fourth Amendment standing. He had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the bookbag for either of two reasons: the bag was not Petitioner's bag at all, or he abandoned it. Either way, Petitioner lacked a valid privacy interest in the bag and, thus, cannot claim the Fourth Amendment's privacy protection.

This Court has stated that "Fourth Amendment rights are personal rights [that]... may not be vicariously asserted." *State v. Payne*, 239 W. Va. 247, 257, 800 S.E.2d 833, 843 (2016) (quoting *Alderman v. United States*, 394 U.S. 165, 174 (1969)). If the bag was not Petitioner's, he simply cannot claim a Fourth Amendment violation. Here, Petitioner claimed consistently and at every stage below that the bag, in fact, wasn't his--even at the suppression hearing when he raised this very issue. App. 59. Furthermore, Petitioner disclaimed ownership of the bag throughout his trial. App. 318, 475-76, 478. Even on appeal, Petitioner notes repeatedly that someone else claimed the bag was his. Pet'r's Br. 2, 4. The Court should take Petitioner at his word and hold him to the consequences of it. At a minimum, Petitioner cannot tell the lower court one thing and then do a

complete about-face on appeal. *See State v. Crabtree*, 198 W. Va. 620, 627, 482 S.E.2d 605, 612 (1996) (noting that a defendant cannot invite error).

Even if the Court allows Petitioner to change his position on who owned the bag, his claim would still fail on Fourth Amendment standing grounds because by abandoning the bag at the scene, he gave up any reasonable expectation of privacy in it that the Fourth Amendment would protect. Petitioner extinguished his reasonable expectation of privacy in the contents of the bag by abandoning it. Thus, Petitioner need not show that he meets an exception to the Fourth Amendment protection against warrantless searches. As this Court has aptly opined, "[t]he State and Federal Constitutions prohibit only unreasonable searches and seizures and there are numerous situations in which a search and seizure warrant is not needed, such as . . . property that has been abandoned." Syl. Pt. 4, *Payne*, 239 W. Va. 247, 800 S.E.2d 833. Based on Petitioner's abandonment of the bag,² a warrant was unnecessary, and the search of the bag was not violative of the Fourth Amendment.

While the court below focused on the exceptions to a warrantless search, the facts of this case show that Petitioner never had a legitimate expectation of privacy in the bookbag he abandoned. This Court's decision in *Payne* is illustrative of these principles. Following a shooting, the defendant in *Payne* left behind his cell phone and a jacket in a home he stayed in from time to time. 239 W. Va. at 252-53, 800 S.E.2d at 838-39. When police went to the home to question the homeowner, the homeowner indicated that the petitioner had left behind the phone and jacket; police subsequently searched the jacket and found an ammunition magazine matching the

² The State recognizes that this argument was not raised below nor was it addressed by the circuit court. This Court has noted, however, that it "may, on appeal, affirm the judgment of the lower court when it appears that such judgment is correct on any legal ground disclosed by the record, regardless of the ground, reason or theory assigned by the lower court as the basis for its judgment." Syl. Pt. 2, *Milmoe v. Paramount Senior Living at Ona, LLC*, 247 W. Va. 68, 875 S.E.2d 206 (2022) (quoting Syl. Pt. 3, *Barnett v. Wolfolk*, 149 W. Va. 246, 140 S.E.2d 466 (1965)).

ammunition used to shoot the victim. *Id.* at 253, 800 S.E.2d at 839. Payne argued a violation of the prohibition against warrantless search and seizure, but the State argued that because Payne abandoned the jacket "with no indication that he ever planned to return or to retrieve it," he also abandoned any privacy interest in the jacket's contents. *Id.* at 257, 800 S.E.2d at 843.

In response to Payne's argument specific to the abandoned jacket and its contents, this Court stated that "[t]he touchstone of Fourth Amendment analysis is whether a person has a 'constitutionally protected reasonable expectation of privacy." *Id.* at 258, 800 S.E.2d at 844 (quoting *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 360 (1967) (Harlan, J., concurring) then citing *California v. Ciraolo*, 476 U.S. 207, 211 (1986)). *Payne* then adopted a two-part test: "first, has the individual manifested a subjective expectation of privacy in the object of the challenged search? Second, is society willing to recognize that expectation as reasonable." *Id.* (quoting *Ciraolo*, 476 U.S. at 211). This Court explained that "[u]nder this two-part inquiry, our analysis does not turn on whether the petitioner retained an ownership interest in the jacket, but whether he retained a reasonable expectation of privacy in the jacket and its contents." *Id.* More importantly, a petitioner bears the burden of proving not only that the search was illegal, but also that the petitioner had a "legitimate expectation of privacy" in the property. *Id.* (quoting *Rawlings v. Kentucky*, 448 U.S. 98, 104 (1980) (additional citation omitted)).

In examining the facts under the requisite "highly fact-specific lens," this Court found that "the petitioner failed in his burden of proving that he had a reasonable expectation of privacy in his jacket and, thus, lacks standing to challenge the search." *Id.* at 259, 800 S.E.2d at 845. The Court noted that leaving the jacket in "a common area" of the home, which he did not own, "le[aving] no instructions with regard to his jacket," and failing to indicate when or if he would return to pick up the jacket extinguished the petitioner's reasonable expectation of privacy. *Id.* In

sum, "the petitioner could not reasonably have expected that no one would ever touch or handle his jacket that he had abandoned on a chair in the foyer of [someone else's] home." *Id*.

Like the jacket in *Payne*, the record reflects that Petitioner abandoned the bookbag and his privacy interest in the bookbag. Petitioner, upon seeing Det. McGary, took his bag off and placed it behind one of the vehicles in the commercial garage. App. 38. Petitioner also notes on appeal that the bag was "hidden" by him prior to his arrest. Pet'r's Br. 2.

Petitioner knew he was about to be arrested on an outstanding warrant, as Det. McGary told him as much. App. 35-38. Hiding the bag he was carrying behind a vehicle in a commercial garage is clearly akin to abandoning it like the defendant in *Payne* leaving behind his jacket. As this Court noted, the operative inquiry is whether Petitioner maintained a reasonable expectation of privacy in the bag. Petitioner did not. By leaving the bag unsecured in the commercial garage, he could no longer control what happened to the bag. Det. McGary testified that there were six or eight other people in the garage, then outside the garage, any of whom could have immediately walked over and grabbed the bag and searched the contents. App. 38, 40. Moreover, one individual even laid claim to the bag. App. 39. Those individuals did not have the chance to take or search the bag only because Det. McGary later secured the bag. Petitioner did not give the bag to any of the others in the garage, nor did he instruct them to take his bag and keep it for him. The idea that he maintained a legitimate expectation of privacy in a bag he attempted to hide while being arrested, with numerous others around, in a commercial facility, is baseless.

Even following the arrest, Petitioner continued to disclaim ownership, only strengthening the idea that he abandoned the bag. There is no stronger evidence of Petitioner's intentional abandonment of the bag than his subsequent attempts to fully disclaim ownership of it during trial. This Court should take Petitioner at his word when he claims the bag was not his and find that he

has no privacy interest in the bag he claims he does not own. But, even if the bag was his, by hiding the bag and leaving it behind, Petitioner gave up his legitimate expectation of privacy, making the lower court's decision correct.

1. Other jurisdictions support the idea that because Petitioner abandoned the bookbag he gave up his expectation of privacy therein.

Other state courts and at least two federal circuits confirm this result. This Court cited to several out-of-jurisdiction cases with approval in *Payne*. 239 W. Va. at 259, 800 S.E.2d at 845. These include the District of Columbia's opinion in *Brown v. United States* wherein the defendant "wiggled out of' his jacket and left it behind after officers grabbed him by the jacket while in pursuit. 97 A.3d 92, 96 (D.C. 2014). The court found that because Petitioner "voluntarily discarded, left behind, or otherwise relinquished his interest in the property in question," he no longer had an expectation of privacy in the jacket. *Id.* (quotations omitted). Accordingly, a petitioner who "abandons property" then "'lack[s] standing' to 'raise the Fourth Amendment issue." *Id.* at 97 (quoting *United States v. Boswell*, 347 A.2d 270, 273 (D.C.1975)).

Likewise, Ohio has found that "[a]bandoned property is not afforded protection under the Fourth Amendment." *State v. Corbin*, 957 N.E.2d 849, 857 (Oh. App. 2011) (citing *Abel v. United States*, 362 U.S. 217, 241 (1960)). The relevant inquiry, as determined by the *Corbin* court, is "whether the owner of the abandoned property voluntarily relinquished his interest in the property such that a reasonable expectation of privacy does not exist at the time of the search." *Id.* Both cases support the notion that by abandoning the bag in the garage, Petitioner also abandoned his privacy interest in the bag, making the search of the bag proper.

The Fourth Circuit has also discussed abandonment of a bag after the petitioner therein disclaimed ownership of the bag. *United States v. Ferebee*, 957 F.3d 406, 412 (4th Cir. 2020). In

Ferebee, the court discussed the petitioner's lack of standing, noting that "Fourth Amendment rights are personal rights which . . . may not be vicariously asserted." *Id.* (quoting *Rakas v. Illinois*, 439 U.S. 128, 133-34 (1978)). The court opined that the "capacity to claim the protection of the Fourth Amendment depends . . . upon whether the person who claims the protection of the Amendment has a legitimate expectation of privacy in the invaded place." *Id.* (quoting *Rakas*, 439 U.S. at 143). Moreover, the court noted that "one who abandons property would have no subjective expectation that the property would remain private, nor would society recognize any such expectation as reasonable." *Id.* at 412-13. Perhaps most significant to the case at bar, *Ferebee* concluded that the denial of ownership of the bag constituted abandonment. *Id.* at 413 (collecting cases). The court then moved on to the "test for abandonment," which is "whether the defendant 'retains a reasonable expectation of privacy' in the property at issue," focusing on the intent of the defendant who abandoned the object. *Id.* (quoting *United States v. Thomas*, 864 F.2d 843, 846 (D.C. Cir. 1989)).

So Ferebee squarely held that—as explained above—disclaiming ownership equals abandonment. Aside from Petitioner's actions showing he abandoned the bag on scene, the record in this case shows Petitioner consistently disclaimed ownership of the bag. App. 59, 318, 475-76, 478. Petitioner maintains this stance on appeal. Pet'r's Br. 2. Thus, Petitioner's disavowal of this bag equates abandonment, meaning Petitioner had no expectation of privacy in the bookbag. There cannot be a Fourth Amendment warrantless search violation without an expectation of privacy; hence, the lower court's refusal to suppress the contents of the bag should be affirmed.

The Fifth Circuit, in *United States v. Colbert*, similarly found that "[t]he issue is not abandonment in the strict property-right sense, but whether the person prejudiced by the search had voluntarily discarded, left behind, or otherwise relinquished his interest in the property in

question so that he could no longer retain a reasonable expectation of privacy with regard to it at the time of the search." 474 F.2d 174, 176 (5th Cir. 1973). As such, abandonment in terms of search and seizure law has nothing to do with a possessory interest, but whether a defendant, through his "words spoken, acts done, and other objective facts" has relinquished his privacy interest in the item searched or seized. *Id.* Petitioner's acts show that he discarded and left behind the bag in question, also leaving behind his legitimate privacy interest in the bag. He cannot now claim a Fourth Amendment right to privacy in that bag. As refusal of the motion to suppress was proper under West Virginia law, the law of other states, and federal law, the lower court's order should be affirmed.

2. Petitioner has no standing to challenge the search of the bookbag and so he cannot meet the threshold inquiry for a Fourth Amendment challenge.

Because Petitioner did not have a legitimate expectation of privacy after he abandoned the bookbag, Petitioner lacks standing to challenge the search. This Court recently discussed standing as it applies to Fourth Amendment challenges in *State v. Ward*, No. 22-0211, 2023 WL 7401695 (W. Va. Nov. 9, 2023) (to be published). *Ward* notes that Petitioner has "the initial burden of demonstrating that he had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the place searched." *Id.* at *6 n.14 (citing *Payne*, 239 W.Va. at 259, 800 S.E.2d at 845). Absent this showing, Petitioner "lacks standing to challenge the search." *Payne*, 239 W.Va. at 259, 800 S.E.2d at 845.

Fourth Amendment standing was an issue from the time of the suppression hearing. App. 60. Although the lower court ultimately ruled on other grounds, this Court can affirm on lack of standing. Syl. Pt. 2, *Milmoe*, 247 W. Va. 68, 875 S.E.2d 206. As recently as this fall, this Court found that standing is a component of a Fourth Amendment claim that may be forfeited or waived. *Ward*, 2023 WL 7401695 at *6. By failing to raise the issue of the petitioner's standing, and, in

fact, affirmatively admitting that the petitioner had an expectation of privacy, this Court found the State waived the argument. *Id.* at *6 n.13. Such is not the case here.

Unlike in *Ward*, the State below did not openly waive the standing argument. 2023 WL 7401695, at *6 n.13. While the State argued an exception to the warrant requirement of the Fourth Amendment, the State also challenged Petitioner's standing. App. 60-66. Most significantly, this Court cited with approval the proposition that the State may raise the issue for the first time on appeal. *Ward*, 2023 WL 7401695, at *6 n.15 (citing *United States v. Russell*, 26 F.4th 371, 374 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 143 S. Ct. 385, 214 L. Ed. 2d 188 (2022)). In *Russell*, the Sixth Circuit found that the failure to challenge a defendant's Fourth Amendment standing before a lower court "isn't fatal" as "[t]he government may object to Fourth Amendment standing for the first time on appeal if it hasn't waived the argument." 26 F.4th at 374. *Russell* also notes that to waive an argument, the government has to "(1) take some step to 'expressly abandon' it or (2) fail to raise it in its first brief on appeal." *Id.* at 375. The State has done neither in this case. The State did not concede below that Petitioner has a reasonable expectation of privacy in this bag. And, the State is raising this issue on appeal.

Keeping this standard in mind, Petitioner has not shown the required reasonable expectation of privacy in the bookbag sufficient to allow him to challenge the subsequent search. As the *Ferebee* court noted, while Fourth Amendment standing is "not jurisdictional," it is "a threshold inquiry that is preliminary to and distinct from the question of whether a warrant was required." 957 F.3d at 412. Furthermore, for Petitioner to have standing, he "must have a cognizable Fourth Amendment interest in the place searched *before seeking relief for an unconstitutional search.*" *Id.* (emphasis in original) (quoting *Byrd v. United States*, 584 U.S. ___, 138 S. Ct. 1518, 1530 (2018)). "[A] person who voluntarily abandons property loses any

reasonable expectation of privacy in the property and is consequently precluded from seeking to suppress evidence seized from the property." *Id.* (quotation omitted). Since, as discussed above, Petitioner has no "cognizable Fourth Amendment interest" in the bag, so he cannot meet the threshold to maintain a Fourth Amendment challenge. Accordingly, the denial of the motion to suppress was proper based on Petitioner's lack of standing due to the abandonment of his bookbag.

C. Even if this Court finds Petitioner meets the threshold of showing a legitimate privacy interest in the bookbag, the search of Petitioner's bag was proper under exceptions to the warrant requirement.

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